Nonlinear Differ. Equ. Appl. (2021) 28:17 © 2021 The Author(s) 1021-9722/21/020001-28 published online March 2, 2021 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00030-021-00682-y

# Nonlinear Differential Equations and Applications NoDEA



# Non-local approximation of the Griffith functional

Giovanni Scilla and Francesco Solombrino

**Abstract.** An approximation, in the sense of  $\Gamma$ -convergence and in any dimension  $d \geq 1$ , of Griffith-type functionals, with p-growth (p > 1) in the symmetrized gradient, is provided by means of a sequence of non-local integral functionals depending on the average of the symmetrized gradients on small balls.

Mathematics Subject Classification. 49Q20, 49J45, 74R10.

Keywords. Non-local approximations,  $\Gamma$ -convergence, Griffith functional, Brittle fracture.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction		2
2.	Notation and preliminary results		6
	2.1.	Notation	6
	2.2.	GBD and $GSBD$ functions	6
	2.3.	Some lemmas	9
	2.4.	$\Gamma$ -convergence	12
	2.5.	A one-dimensional $\Gamma$ -convergence result	12
3.	The	non-local model and main results	13
4.	. Compactness		14
5.	Estimate from below of the $\Gamma$ -limit		18
	5.1.	Estimate from below of the bulk term	18
	5.2.	Estimate from below of the surface term	19
	5.3.	Proof of the $\Gamma$ -liminf inequality	22
6.	Estimate from above of the $\Gamma$ -limit		24
Acknowledgements			25
References			26

#### 1. Introduction

In this paper we provide a variational approximation by means of non-local integral energies of functionals of the form

$$\alpha \int_{\Omega \setminus K} W(\mathcal{E}u(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x + 2\beta \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(K), \tag{1.1}$$

where  $\Omega$  is a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $K \subseteq \Omega$  is closed, W is a non-negative and convex function with p-growth for some p > 1,  $u \in C^1(\Omega \backslash K; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\mathcal{E}u$  denotes the symmetric part of the gradient of u and  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$  is the (d-1)-dimensional Hausdorff measure.

Functionals as in (1.1) are the core of many variational models of fracture mechanics, in the framework of Griffith's theory of brittle fracture under the small strain assumption (see, e.g., [30,32] and the references in [18, Introduction). If, as usual, the set  $\Omega$  denotes the reference configuration and u represents the displacement field of the body, then the total energy (1.1)is the sum of a bulk energy in  $\Omega \setminus K$ , where the material is supposed to have an elastic/elasto-plastic behavior (see, e.g., [30, Sect. 2], [33, Sections 10 and 11), and a surface term accounting for the energy necessary to produce the fracture, proportional to the area of the crack surface K. It is only very recently that a rigorous weak formulation of the problem (1.1) has been provided [20,27]. Within this setting, u is a (vector-valued) generalized special function of bounded deformation, for which the symmetrized gradient  $\mathcal{E}u$  is defined almost everywhere in an approximate sense (see [27]), and the set K is replaced by the (d-1)-rectifiable set  $J_u$ , the jump set of u. This space is denoted by  $GSBD^{p}(\Omega)$ , where the exponent p refers to the integrability of  $\mathcal{E}u$ . After that the existence of weak minimizers has been achieved, one can actually show that the jump set thereof is closed (up to a  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$ -negligible set), and prove well-posedness of the minimization problem for (1.1) (see [17,19,22]).

However, the minimization of functionals of the type (1.1) may be a hard task in practice, mainly due to the presence of the surface term  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_u)$ . Such difficulties already appear for  $W(M) = |M|^2$  and in the case of antiplane shear (see, e.g., [10]), where the energy (1.1) reduces to the Mumford-Shahtype functional

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_u),\tag{1.2}$$

for a scalar-valued displacement  $u \in SBV(\Omega)$ , the space of special functions of bounded variation. It is indeed well-known that a variational approximation of (1.2) by means of local integral functionals of the form

$$\int_{\Omega} f_{\varepsilon}(\nabla u) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

defined on Sobolev spaces, is doomed to failure (see [13, Introduction]). Over the last years, this has motivated a great effort to provide suitable approximations of (1.2) by means of more manageable functionals, leading to the convergence of minimum points. A number of different approaches has been proposed, which in some cases have also been generalised to the (more challenging) setting of (1.1), both in a discrete and in a continuous, infinite-dimensional, setting.

A very popular approach, originally proposed by Ambrosio and Tortorelli [4,5] and generalised to the linearly elastic setting in [18,29], provides an approximation of (1.1) and (1.2) by elliptic functionals (with parameter  $\varepsilon > 0$ ) at the price of adding an auxiliary phase-field variable  $v \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^d; [0,1])$ . The heuristics behind these functionals, taking the form

$$\int_{\Omega} v_{\varepsilon}(x) W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(x)) dx + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{\Omega} (v_{\varepsilon}(x) - 1)^{2} dx + \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} |\nabla v_{\varepsilon}(x)|^{2} dx$$

is to approximate the discontinuity set K with the  $\varepsilon$ -layer  $\{v_{\varepsilon} \sim 0\}$ . Also discretizations of the above functionals by means of either finite-difference or finite-elements with mesh-size  $\delta$ , independent of  $\varepsilon$ , have been considered. For a suitable fine mesh, with size  $\delta = \delta(\varepsilon)$  small enough, these numerical approximations  $\Gamma$ -converge, as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , to the Mumford-Shah functional (see [6,8], and [7] for the case of a stochastic lattice). A similar result for the energy (1.1) has been recently provided in [25]. For other discrete approaches based on finite differences or finite elements we may mention [16,21,39], in the context of the Mumford-Shah functional, and [1,36] for the Griffith model.

Closer to the purpose of our paper are, however, variational approximations by means of nonlocal integral energies. Following a conjecture by De Giorgi, Gobbino proved for instance in [31] that the functionals

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{d+1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \arctan\left(\frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|y - x|}\right) e^{-\frac{|y - x|^2}{\varepsilon^2}} \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y$$

 $\Gamma$ -converge to (1.2) when  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . A discretization of this model on graphs has been recently analysed in [15], and adaptions to the stochastic setting have also been provided [38]. Another method, introduced in [13], is based on nonlocal integral functionals whose density depends on the average of the gradient on small balls, in order to prevent large gradients being concentrated in small regions. There, functionals of the form

$$F_{\varepsilon}(u) := \int_{\Omega} f\left(\varepsilon \oint_{B_{\varepsilon}(x)\cap\Omega} |\nabla u(y)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}y\right) \, \mathrm{d}x \tag{1.3}$$

are considered, where  $f:[0,+\infty)\to[0,+\infty)$  is an increasing function such that

$$\lim_{t \to 0^+} \frac{f(t)}{t} = \alpha, \quad \lim_{t \to +\infty} f(t) = \beta, \tag{1.4}$$

 $B_{\varepsilon}(x)$  denotes the open ball of radius  $\varepsilon$  centred at  $x \in \Omega$  and  $f_B v dx$  is the average of v on B. The functionals (1.3)  $\Gamma$ -converge, as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , to the functional

$$F(u) := \alpha \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u(x)|^2 dx + 2\beta \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_u).$$

Afterwards, in [14], it has been shown that more general energies of the form

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u(x)|^2 dx + \int_{J_u} \theta(|u^+ - u^-|) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1},$$

where  $|u^+ - u^-|$  is the jump of u across  $J_u$ , can be obtained by considering non-local approximating functionals as in (1.3) with varying densities  $f = f_{\varepsilon}$ , and the function  $\theta$  is computable from  $f_{\varepsilon}$ . This analysis has been continued in [34,35] for functionals with bulk terms having linear growth in the gradient.

The very first non-local approximation of Griffith-type energies on the footsteps of [13], inspired by the subsequent generalization [24] of such model, has been provided in [37]. There, non-local convolution-type energies of the form

$$\int_{\Omega} f_{\varepsilon} \left( \int_{\varepsilon \operatorname{supp}\rho} |\mathcal{E}u(y)|^{p} \rho_{\varepsilon}(x-y) \, \mathrm{d}y \right) \, \mathrm{d}x \tag{1.5}$$

are considered, where  $f_{\varepsilon}$  is a suitable sequence of densities,  $\rho$  is a convolution kernel with support supp $\rho$  and  $\rho_{\varepsilon}(z)$  is the usual sequence of convolution kernels  $\rho(z/\varepsilon)/\varepsilon^d$ . The  $\Gamma$ -limit of (1.5) with respect to the  $L^1$  convergence is shown to be the Griffith-type functional

$$\int_{\Omega} |\mathcal{E}u(x)|^p dx + \int_{J_u} \phi_{\rho}(\nu) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1},$$

where the anisotropy  $\phi_{\rho}$  depends on the geometry and on the size of supp $\rho$ , and the function u belongs to the space  $SBD^p$  of special functions of bounded deformation with  $\mathcal{E}u \in L^p$ , which is a (proper) subspace of  $GSBD^p$ . The argument in [37] introduces some novelties with respect to [13,24], in particular for the proof of the lower bound, which is obtained by means of a delicate construction based on a slicing technique. However, as it happens when dealing with the space  $SBD^p$ , in order to obtain compactness of sequences of competitors with equibounded energy, an  $L^{\infty}$  bound has to be imposed, which is quite unnatural in Fracture Mechanics.

Our results: The purpose of our paper is to provide a variational approximation of the functional (1.1) in the spirit of [13]. We will namely show that for f complying with (1.4), the functionals

$$F_{\varepsilon}(u) := \int_{\Omega} f\left(\varepsilon \int_{B_{\varepsilon}(x)\cap\Omega} W\left(\mathcal{E}u(y)\right) \,\mathrm{d}y\right) \,\mathrm{d}x \tag{1.6}$$

 $\Gamma$ -converge to the functional (1.1) in the  $L^1(\Omega)$ -topology (Theorem 3.1). The proof strategy is based on the localization method for  $\Gamma$ -convergence (see, e.g., [26, Chapters 14–20]). One first considers, for any open subset  $A \subset \Omega$ , the localized functionals  $F_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, A)$  defined as in (1.6) with A in place of  $\Omega$  and their asymptotic behavior. The core of the argument (essentially contained

in Propositions 5.1–5.3) consists in showing that the lower  $\Gamma$ -limit F'(u, A) satisfies the estimates

$$F'(u, A) \ge \alpha \int_A W(\mathcal{E}u) \, \mathrm{d}x, \quad F'(u, A) \ge 2\beta \int_{A \cap J_u} |\langle \nu_u, \xi \rangle| \, \mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^{d-1} \quad (1.7)$$

for each  $u \in GSBD^p(A)$ ,  $A \subset \Omega$ , and  $\xi$  unit vector in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Above, the symbol  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  denotes the scalar product in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . As the two terms on the right-hand side are mutually singular, the  $\Gamma$ -liminf estimate can be obtained from these two separate estimates by a standard technique (Lemma 2.9).

While this general scheme has also been pursued in [13], getting to (1.7) is rather different in our paper than it was to obtain analogous estimates in theirs. Indeed, in the SBV-context of Mumford-Shah-type functionals, one has the possibility of lowering the energy by truncating competitors. Hence, the main estimates can be proved for functions in  $SBV \cap L^{\infty}$ , as it is done for instance in [13, Propositions 4.1 and 5.1], where  $L^{\infty}$ -bounds are explicitly exploited. A similar tool is not available in the bounded deformation setting. Hence, we have to renounce the semi-discrete approach of [13] and follow a different strategy, which is closely related to the the heuristics of the model (1.6).

The main idea for obtaining the first estimate in (1.7) is contained in the proof of Proposition 4.1. Using an energy estimate and the coarea formula, there we show that, for a given error parameter  $\delta$ , the set where the averages  $\varepsilon f_{B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}u(x)) dx$  exceed a given threshold can be included in a set  $K'_{\varepsilon}$  with vanishing area and bounded perimeter. This allows one to show that the  $\Gamma$ -limit of the energies (1.6) is controlled from below by a functional of the type (1.1). The optimal constant in the bulk term can be recovered, as done in Proposition 5.1, by replacing a sequence of competitors  $(u_{\varepsilon})$  with their averages on balls of radius  $\varepsilon$  at points  $x \in \Omega \backslash K'_{\varepsilon}$ . Indeed,  $K'_{\varepsilon}$  is the set where, intuitively, the energy does concentrate on lower dimensional manifolds and the bulk contribution can be neglected. It is worth mentioning that such an optimal estimate for the bulk term is not derived by means of any slicing procedure, which would not comply well with the general form of the bulk energy we are considering.

The second estimate in (1.7) is instead obtained by means of a slicing argument in the fixed direction  $\xi$  (see Proposition 5.2), first reconducting the problem to the analysis of the one-dimensional version of the functional (1.3) (which can be performed with elementary arguments, see [11, Theorem 3.30]) and then exploiting the slicing properties of GSBD functions recalled in Sect. 2.2. Finally, the  $\Gamma$ -limsup inequality (Proposition 6.1) can be obtained by a direct construction for a regular class of competitors having a "nice" jump set, and which are dense in energy according to recent approximation results by Chambolle and Crismale [18], summarized in Theorem 2.3, and by Cortesani and Toader [24]. Let us remark that our proof strategy can also be applied, with obvious modifications, for an alternative and, in our opinion, slightly simpler proof of the results in [13].

To end up this review of our results, we want to motivate our choice of the  $L^1$ -topology and warn the reader of a related issue. Actually, while  $L^1$ -convergence is a natural choice in the context of the Mumford-Shah functional, both for the possibility of using truncations and for the presence of  $L^p$ -fidelity terms, when dealing with fracture models it would be preferable to deal with the convergence in measure. Indeed, Proposition 4.1 in principle only allows one for applying Theorem 2.4, which provides subsequences that are (essentially) converging in measure. However, dealing with sequences converging in  $L^1$  allows us to deduce the convergence of the averaged functions in Lemma 2.7 which are a useful tool in our proofs. Notice that compactness in  $L^1$  can be easily enforced by adding a lower-order fidelity term, for which a completely satisfactory compactness and  $\Gamma$ -convergence result can be stated and proved (Theorem 3.2). It then seems to us that adding such a term, although not completely justified from the point of view of fracture mechanics, does not really affect our methods and results.

Outline of the paper: The paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 2 we fix the basic notation and collect some definitions and results on the function spaces we will deal with (Sect. 2.2), together with some technical lemmas (Sect. 2.3) which will be useful throughout the paper. In Sect. 3 we list the main assumptions, introduce our model (Eq. (3.3)), and state the main results of the paper, given in Theorems 3.1 and 3.2. Section 4 contains the compactness result of Proposition 4.1. Section 5 is devoted to the  $\Gamma$ -liminf inequality: the separate estimates from below of the bulk term and the surface term of the energy are contained in Sects. 5.1 and 5.2, respectively; the proof of the  $\Gamma$ -liminf inequality is the content of Sect. 5.3. The upper bound is provided in Sect. 6.

# 2. Notation and preliminary results

#### 2.1. Notation

The symbol  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  denotes the scalar product in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , while  $|\cdot|$  stands for the Euclidean norm in any dimension. The symbol  $\Omega$  will always denote an open, bounded subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with Lipschitz boundary. The Lebesgue measure in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and the s-dimensional Hausdorff measure are written as  $\mathcal{L}^d$  and  $\mathcal{H}^s$ , respectively.

The symbol  $S^{d-1}$  will denote the (d-1)-dimensional unit sphere. The family of the open subsets of  $\Omega$  will be denoted by  $\mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ .

#### 2.2. GBD and GSBD functions

We recall here some basic definitions and results on generalized functions with bounded deformation, as introduced in [27]. Throughout the paper we will use standard notations for the spaces (G)SBV and (G)SBD, referring the reader to [3] and [2,9,40], respectively, for a detailed treatment on the topics.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The presence of the exceptional set  $A^{\infty}$  in the statement of Theorem 2.4 is no real issue in the context of the Griffith model, as setting u = 0 there is optimal for the energy, see [20].

Let  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$  and  $\Pi^{\xi} = \{y \in \mathbb{R}^d : \langle \xi, y \rangle = 0\}$ . If  $y \in \Pi^{\xi}$  and  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  we set  $\Omega_{\xi,y} := \{t \in \mathbb{R} : y + t\xi \in \Omega\}$  and  $\Omega_{\xi} := \{y \in \Pi^{\xi} : \Omega_{\xi,y} \neq \emptyset\}$ . Given  $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $d \geq 2$ , we define  $u^{\xi,y} : \Omega_{\xi,y} \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$u^{\xi,y}(t) := \langle u(y+t\xi), \xi \rangle, \tag{2.1}$$

while if  $h: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ , the symbol  $h^{\xi,y}$  will denote the restriction of h to the set  $\Omega_{\xi,y}$ ; namely,

$$h^{\xi,y}(t) := h(y + t\xi).$$
 (2.2)

Let  $\xi \in S^{d-1}$ . For any  $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$  we denote by  $y_{\xi}$  and  $y_{\xi^{\perp}}$  the projections onto the subspaces  $\Xi := \{t\xi: t \in \mathbb{R}\}$  and  $\Pi^{\xi}$ , respectively. For  $\sigma \in (0,1)$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  we define the cylinders

$$C^{\xi}_{\sigma}(0) := \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^d : |y_{\xi}| < \sigma, |y_{\xi^{\perp}}| < \sqrt{1 - \sigma^2} \}, \quad C^{\xi}_{\sigma}(x) := x + C^{\xi}_{\sigma}(0).$$

Note that it holds  $C^{\xi}_{\sigma}(x) \subseteq B_1(x)$ , and that  $C^{\xi}_{\sigma}(x) = (x_{\xi} - \sigma, x_{\xi} + \sigma) \times B^{d-1}_{\sqrt{1-\sigma^2}}(x_{\xi^{\perp}})$ , where  $B^{d-1}$  denotes a ball in the (d-1)-dimensional space  $\Pi^{\xi}$ .

**Definition 2.1.** An  $\mathcal{L}^d$ -measurable function  $u:\Omega\to\mathbb{R}^d$  belongs to  $GBD(\Omega)$  if there exists a positive bounded Radon measure  $\lambda_u$  such that, for all  $\tau\in C^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with  $-\frac{1}{2}\leq \tau\leq \frac{1}{2}$  and  $0\leq \tau'\leq 1$ , and all  $\xi\in S^{d-1}$ , the distributional derivative  $D_{\xi}(\tau(\langle u,\xi\rangle))$  is a bounded Radon measure on  $\Omega$  whose total variation satisfies

$$|D_{\xi}(\tau(\langle u, \xi \rangle))|(B) \le \lambda_u(B)$$

for every Borel subset B of  $\Omega$ .

If  $u \in GBD(\Omega)$  and  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$  then, in view of [27, Theorem 9.1, Theorem 8.1], the following properties hold:

- (a)  $\dot{u}^{\xi,y}(t) = \langle \mathcal{E}u(y+t\xi)\xi, \xi \rangle$  for a.e.  $t \in \Omega_{\xi,y}$ ;
- (b)  $J_{u^{\xi,y}} = (J_u^{\xi})_{\xi,y}$  for  $\mathcal{H}^{n-1}$ -a.e.  $y \in \Pi^{\xi}$ , where

$$J_u^{\xi} := \{ x \in J_u : \langle u^+(x) - u^-(x), \xi \rangle \neq 0 \}.$$
 (2.3)

**Definition 2.2.** A function  $u \in GBD(\Omega)$  belongs to the subset  $GSBD(\Omega)$  of special functions of bounded deformation if in addition for every  $\xi \in S^{d-1}$  and  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$ -a.e.  $y \in \Pi^{\xi}$ , the function  $u^{\xi,y}$  belongs to  $SBV_{loc}(\Omega_{\xi,y})$ .

By [27, Remark 4.5] one has the inclusions  $BD(\Omega) \subset GBD(\Omega)$  and  $SBD(\Omega) \subset GSBD(\Omega)$ , which are in general strict. Some relevant properties of functions with bounded deformation can be generalized to this weak setting: in particular, in [27, Theorem 6.2 and Theorem 9.1] it is shown that the jump set  $J_u$  of a GBD-function is  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$ -rectifiable and that GBD-functions have an approximate symmetric differential  $\mathcal{E}u(x)$  at  $\mathcal{L}^d$ -a.e.  $x \in \Omega$ , respectively. Let p > 1. The space  $GSBD^p(\Omega)$  is defined through:

$$GSBD^{p}(\Omega) := \{ u \in GSBD(\Omega) : \mathcal{E}u \in L^{p}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}_{svm}^{d \times d}), \, \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u}) < +\infty \}.$$

Every function in  $GSBD^p(\Omega)$  is approximated by bounded SBV functions with more regular jump set, as stated by the following result [18, Theorem 1.1].

**Theorem 2.3.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded open Lipschitz set, and let  $u \in GSBD^p(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then there exists a sequence  $(u_n)$  such that

- (i)  $u_n \in SBV^p(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d) \cap L^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d);$
- (ii) each  $J_{u_n}$  is closed and included in a finite union of closed connected pieces of  $C^1$ -hypersurfaces;
- (iii)  $u_n \in W^{1,\infty}(\Omega \backslash J_{u_n}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , and

$$u_n \to u \text{ in measure on } \Omega,$$
 (2.4)

$$\mathcal{E}u_n \to \mathcal{E}u \text{ in } L^p(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}_{sym}),$$
 (2.5)

$$\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_n} \triangle J_u) \to 0. \tag{2.6}$$

Moreover, if  $\int_{\Omega} \psi(|u|) dx$  is finite for  $\psi : [0, +\infty) \to [0, +\infty)$  continuous, increasing, with

$$\psi(0) = 0, \ \psi(s+t) \le C(\psi(s) + \psi(t)), \ \psi(s) \le C(1+s^p), \ \lim_{s \to +\infty} \psi(s) = +\infty$$

then

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_{\Omega} \psi(|u_n - u|) \, \mathrm{d}x = 0. \tag{2.7}$$

A further approximation result, by Cortesani and Toader [23, Theorem 3.9], allows us to approximate  $GSBD^p(\Omega)$  functions with the so-called "piecewise smooth" SBV-functions, denoted  $\mathcal{W}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , characterized by the three properties

$$\begin{cases} u \in SBV(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d) \cap W^{m,\infty}(\Omega \backslash J_u; \mathbb{R}^d) \text{ for every } m \in \mathbb{N}, \\ \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(\overline{J}_u \backslash J_u) = 0, \\ \overline{J}_u \text{ is the intersection of } \Omega \text{ with a finite union of } (d-1)\text{-dimensional simplexes} \end{cases}$$
 (2.8)

Notice that for the results above only the coercivity of  $\psi$  is needed, while we will require  $\psi$  to be superlinear at infinity in order to infer strong  $L^1$ -convergence (see Remark 2.5 below).

We recall the following general  $GSBD^p$  compactness result from [20], which generalizes [27, Theorem 11.3]. In the statement the symbol  $\partial^*$  denotes the essential boundary of a set with finite perimeter. We keep this general form of the statement. However, since we have to enforce  $L^1$ -convergence of sequences with bounded energy, the situation which is relevant for our purposes is described in Remark 2.5 below.

**Theorem 2.4.** (GSBD<sup>p</sup> compactness) Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}$  be an open, bounded set, and let  $(u_n)_n \subset GSBD^p(\Omega)$  be a sequence satisfying

$$\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \left( \|\mathcal{E}u_n\|_{L^p(\Omega)} + \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_n}) \right) < +\infty.$$

Then there exists a subsequence, still denoted by  $(u_n)$ , such that the set  $A^{\infty} := \{x \in \Omega : |u_n(x)| \to +\infty\}$  has finite perimeter, and there exists  $u \in GSBD^p(\Omega)$ 

such that

- (i)  $u_n \to u$  in measure on  $\Omega \backslash A^{\infty}$ ,
- (ii)  $\mathcal{E}u_n \rightharpoonup \mathcal{E}u$  in  $L^p(\Omega \backslash A^\infty; \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}_{sym})$ ,

(iii) 
$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_n}) \ge \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_u \cup (\partial^* A^{\infty} \cap \Omega)).$$
 (2.9)

Remark 2.5. If one additionally has

$$\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\int_{\Omega}\psi(|u_n|)\,\mathrm{d}x<+\infty$$

for a continuous, positive, increasing function  $\psi$  satisfying

$$\lim_{s \to +\infty} \frac{\psi(s)}{s} = +\infty,$$

then  $u \in L^1(\Omega)$ , so that  $A^{\infty} = \emptyset$ . Furthermore, (i) holds with respect to the  $L^1$ -convergence in  $\Omega$ , by the Vitali dominated convergence theorem.

#### 2.3. Some lemmas

We recall here the following property of commutability of the integral averages with the gradient operator for a Sobolev vector-valued function. The proof is based on standard arguments by test functions, so we omit the details.

**Proposition 2.6.** Let  $u \in W^{1,p}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Let  $\Omega' \subset\subset \Omega$  and  $0 \leq \eta \leq \operatorname{dist}(\Omega', \partial\Omega)$ . Then the average

$$\varphi(x) := \int_{B_{\eta}(x)} u(y) \, \mathrm{d}y$$

belongs to  $W^{1,p}(\Omega';\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Moreover, it holds that

$$\nabla \varphi(x) = \oint_{B_n(x)} \nabla u(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \quad a.e. \ on\Omega'. \tag{2.10}$$

We will make use of the following convergence properties of averaged functions. These are probably well-known, a short proof is however added for the reader's convenience.

**Lemma 2.7.** Assume that  $w_{\varepsilon} \to w$  in  $L^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$  and let  $\eta_{\varepsilon}$  be any sequence with  $\eta_{\varepsilon} \to 0$  when  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Then the following holds:

(i) the sequence

$$\hat{w}_{\varepsilon}(x) := \int_{B_{n_{\varepsilon}}(x)} w_{\varepsilon}(y) \, \mathrm{d}y$$

satisfies  $\hat{w}_{\varepsilon} \to w$  in  $L^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ;

(ii) for all  $\xi \in S^{d-1}$  and a.e.  $y \in \Pi^{\xi}$ , the sequence

$$\hat{w}_{\varepsilon}^{\xi,y}(t) := \int_{B_{n}^{d-1}(y)} w_{\varepsilon}(z+t\xi) \,\mathrm{d}z$$

satisfies  $\hat{w}_{\varepsilon}^{\xi,y} \to w^{\xi,y}$  in  $L^1(\Omega_{\xi,y}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , where  $w^{\xi,y}(t) := w(y + t\xi)$ .

*Proof.* We extend the functions  $w_{\varepsilon}$  to the value 0 in  $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Omega$ . For (i), we observe that with the change of variable  $y = x + \eta_{\varepsilon} z$  and Fubini's theorem one has

$$\int_{\Omega} |\hat{w}_{\varepsilon}(x) - w_{\varepsilon}(x)| \, \mathrm{d}x \le \int_{B_1(0)} \left( \int_{\Omega} |w_{\varepsilon}(x + \eta_{\varepsilon}z) - w_{\varepsilon}(x)| \, \, \mathrm{d}x \right) \, \mathrm{d}z$$

For any fixed  $\theta > 0$  one has now, for small  $\varepsilon$ 

$$\int_{\Omega} |w_{\varepsilon}(x + \eta_{\varepsilon}z) - w_{\varepsilon}(x)| \, \mathrm{d}x \le \theta$$

uniformly with respect to  $z \in B_1(0)$  by the Fréchet-Kolmogorov criterion. It follows that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} |\hat{w}_{\varepsilon}(x) - w_{\varepsilon}(x)| \, \mathrm{d}x = 0,$$

which gives (i).

Concerning (ii), write  $x = y + t\xi$  and set  $w_{\varepsilon}^{\xi,y}(t) := w_{\varepsilon}(y + t\xi)$ . It holds that  $w_{\varepsilon}^{\xi,y} \to w^{\xi,y}$  in  $L^1(\Omega_{\xi,y}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  for a.e.  $y \in \Pi^{\xi}$ . For  $\hat{w}_{\varepsilon}^{\xi}(x) := \hat{w}_{\varepsilon}^{\xi,y}(t)$  we have now with the change of variable  $z = y + \eta_{\varepsilon}z'$  and Fubini's theorem that

$$\int_{\Omega} |\hat{w}_{\varepsilon}^{\xi}(x) - w_{\varepsilon}(x)| \, \mathrm{d}x \le \int_{B_{1}^{d-1}(0)} \left( \int_{\Omega} |w_{\varepsilon}(x + \eta_{\varepsilon}z') - w_{\varepsilon}(x)| \, \, \mathrm{d}x \right) \, \mathrm{d}z'$$

so that, arguing as before,

$$\hat{w}_{\varepsilon}^{\xi} - w_{\varepsilon} \to 0 \text{ in } L^{1}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{d}).$$

Hence, (ii) follows from the analogous convergence properties of the slices  $w_{\varepsilon}^{\xi,y}(t)$ .

We will make also use of the following property of finite coverings of a bounded set.

**Remark 2.8.** Let R > 0 and  $E \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be such that  $E \subset B_R$ . Then, for every r > 0, there exists a finite subset  $E' \subset E$  such that

$$E \subset \bigcup_{x \in E'} B_r(x)$$

and #(E') depends only on r, R and d. If, in addition,  $\frac{R}{r} \leq \lambda$ , then there exists a constant  $C = C(\lambda, d)$  such that  $\#(E') \leq C$ .

For this, we note that the family of balls

$$\mathcal{B} := \left\{ B_{\frac{r}{2}}(z) : \ z \in \left( \frac{r}{2\sqrt{d}} \mathbb{Z} \right)^d \cap B_R \right\}$$

is a covering of  $B_R$ . Now, for every ball  $B_{\frac{r}{2}}(z)$  in  $\mathcal{B}$  such that  $B_{\frac{r}{2}}(z) \cap E \neq \emptyset$ , we choose a point  $x = x(z) \in B_{\frac{r}{2}}(z) \cap E$  and so doing we construct the set

$$E' := \left\{ x = x(z) : \ z \in \left( \frac{r}{2\sqrt{d}} \mathbb{Z} \right)^d \cap B_R, \ B_{\frac{r}{2}}(z) \cap E \neq \emptyset \right\}.$$

Then, the desired covering of E is given by  $\{B_r(x): x \in E'\}$ . Note also that

$$\#(E') \le \#\left(\left(\frac{r}{2\sqrt{d}}\mathbb{Z}\right)^d \cap B_R\right) := C(r, R, d) < +\infty. \tag{2.11}$$

From (2.11) and a simple scaling argument, we infer that C(r, R, d) is uniformly bounded when the ratio  $\frac{R}{r}$  is bounded.

The following result, dealing with the supremum of a family of measures, will be useful for the derivation of the  $\Gamma$ -liminf inequality (see, e.g., [11, Proposition 1.16]).

**Lemma 2.9.** Let  $\mu: \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \longrightarrow [0, +\infty)$  be a superadditive function on disjoint open sets, let  $\lambda$  be a positive measure on  $\Omega$  and let  $\varphi_h: \Omega \longrightarrow [0, +\infty]$  be a countable family of Borel functions such that  $\mu(A) \geq \int_A \varphi_h \, d\lambda$  for every  $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ . Then, setting  $\varphi := \sup_{h \in \mathbb{N}} \varphi_h$ , it holds that

$$\mu(A) \ge \int_C \varphi \, \mathrm{d}\lambda$$

for every  $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ .

We also remark the following approximation property from below for lower semicontinuous increasing functions with truncated affine functions. A proof is given for the reader's convenience.

**Lemma 2.10.** Consider a lower semicontinuous increasing function  $f:[0,+\infty) \to [0,+\infty)$  such that there exist  $\alpha,\beta>0$  with

$$\lim_{t \to 0^+} \frac{f(t)}{t} = \alpha, \quad \lim_{t \to +\infty} f(t) = \beta.$$

Then there exist two positive sequences  $(a_i)_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ ,  $(b_i)_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$  with

$$\sup_{i} a_i = \alpha, \quad \sup_{i} b_i = \beta$$

and  $\min\{a_i t, b_i\} \leq f(t)$  for all  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

*Proof.* For all  $(h, k) \in \mathbb{N}^2$  set

$$a_{hk} := \min \left\{ \frac{f(t)}{t} : t \in \left[0, \frac{k}{h}\right] \right\}, \quad b_{hk} := f\left(\frac{k}{h}\right).$$

Above the function  $\frac{f(t)}{t}$  is extended by continuity with the value  $\alpha$  for t=0. We clearly have that  $a_{hk} \leq \alpha$  for all  $(h,k) \in \mathbb{N}^2$ ; furthermore  $\alpha$  is an accumulation point for the family  $a_{hk}$ , hence  $\alpha = \sup\{a_{hk} : (h,k) \in \mathbb{N}^2\}$ . With the monotonicity of f we have  $b_{hk} \leq \beta$  for all  $(h,k) \in \mathbb{N}^2$ ; furthermore  $\beta$  is an accumulation point for the family  $b_{hk}$ , hence  $\beta = \sup\{b_{hk} : (h,k) \in \mathbb{N}^2\}$ .

By construction we have

$$a_{hk}t \le f(t) \text{ for all } t \in \left[0, \frac{k}{h}\right], \quad b_{hk} \le f(t) \text{ for all } t \in \left[\frac{k}{h}, +\infty\right),$$

so that  $\min\{a_{hk}t,b_{hk}\} \leq f(t)$  for all  $(h,k) \in \mathbb{N}^2$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . It then simply suffices to consider an enumeration of  $\mathbb{N}^2$  to conclude the proof.

#### 2.4. Γ-convergence

We recall here the definition of  $\Gamma$ -convergence for families of functionals depending on a real parameter. According to [12], we treat  $\Gamma$ -limits of functionals  $F_{\varepsilon}: X \to [-\infty, +\infty]$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ . The definition is an extension of that given for sequences of functionals labelled by a discrete parameter (see, e.g., [26]), as we require all the properties to hold for every positive sequence  $(\varepsilon_j)$  converging to 0.

For all  $u \in X$ , we define the lower  $\Gamma$ -limit of  $(F_{\varepsilon})$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$  by

$$F'(u) := \inf \left\{ \liminf_{j \to +\infty} F_{\varepsilon_j}(u_j) : \ \varepsilon_j \to 0^+, \ u_j \to u \right\}, \tag{2.12}$$

and the upper  $\Gamma$ -limit of  $(F_{\varepsilon})$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$  by

$$F''(u) := \inf \left\{ \limsup_{j \to +\infty} F_{\varepsilon_j}(u_j) : \ \varepsilon_j \to 0^+, \ u_j \to u \right\}. \tag{2.13}$$

We then say that  $(F_{\varepsilon})$   $\Gamma$ -converges to  $F: X \to [-\infty, +\infty]$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$  iff

$$F(u) = F'(u) = F''(u)$$
, for all  $u \in X$ .

#### 2.5. A one-dimensional $\Gamma$ -convergence result

We recall here a one-dimensional  $\Gamma$ -convergence result which will be useful in the sequel. In the statement below, functions in  $L^1(I)$  with  $I \subset \mathbb{R}$  are extended by 0 outside I, so that the functionals  $H_{\varepsilon}$  are well-defined (actually, the result is not affected by the considered extension).

**Theorem 2.11.** Let p > 1, let I be a bounded interval in  $\mathbb{R}$  and consider a lower semicontinuous increasing function  $f: [0, +\infty) \to [0, +\infty)$  such that there exist  $\alpha, \beta > 0$  with

$$\lim_{t \to 0^+} \frac{f(t)}{t} = \alpha, \quad \lim_{t \to +\infty} f(t) = \beta.$$

Let  $H_{\varepsilon}: L^1(I) \to [0, +\infty]$  be defined by

$$H_{\varepsilon}(u) := \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{I} f\left(\frac{1}{2} \int_{x-\varepsilon}^{x+\varepsilon} |u'(y)|^{p} dy\right) dx,$$

where it is understood that

$$f\left(\frac{1}{2}\int_{x-\varepsilon}^{x+\varepsilon}|u'(y)|^p\,\mathrm{d}y\right)=\beta$$

if  $u \notin W^{1,p}(x-\varepsilon,x+\varepsilon)$ . Then the functionals  $(H_{\varepsilon})$   $\Gamma$ -converge as  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$  to the functional

$$H(u) := \begin{cases} \alpha \int_{I} |u'|^{p} dt + 2\beta \#(J_{u}), & \text{if } u \in SBV(I), \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

in  $L^1(I)$ .

*Proof.* See [11, Theorem 3.30].

#### 3. The non-local model and main results

In this section we list our assumptions and introduce the main results of the paper. Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be an open set with Lipschitz boundary, let  $1 and <math>f:[0,+\infty) \to [0,+\infty)$  a lower semicontinuous, increasing function satisfying

$$\lim_{t\to 0^+}\frac{f(t)}{t}=\alpha>0,\quad \lim_{t\to +\infty}f(t)=\beta>0. \tag{3.1}$$

Let  $W: \mathbb{R}^{d \times d} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a convex positive function on the subspace  $\mathbb{M}^{d \times d}_{sym}$  of symmetric matrices, such that

$$W(\mathbf{0}) = 0, \quad c|M|^p \le W(M) \le C(1+|M|^p).$$
 (3.2)

For every  $\varepsilon>0$  we consider the functional  $F_\varepsilon:L^1(\Omega;\mathbb{R}^d)\to [0,+\infty]$  defined as

$$F_{\varepsilon}(u) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{\Omega} f\left(\varepsilon f_{B_{\varepsilon}(x) \cap \Omega} W(\mathcal{E}u(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y\right) \, \mathrm{d}x, & \text{if } u \in W^{1,p}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d), \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise on } L^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d), \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

where

$$\int_{B} w(y) \, \mathrm{d}y := \frac{1}{\mathcal{L}^{d}(B)} \int_{B} w(y) \, \mathrm{d}y$$

for every Borel set  $B \subseteq \Omega$  and for every  $w \in L^1(B)$ .

We will deal with a localized version of the energies (3.3). Namely, for every  $A \subseteq \Omega$  open set, we will denote by  $F_{\varepsilon}(u,A)$  the same functional as in (3.3) with the set A in place of  $\Omega$ .

The following theorem is the first main result of this paper.

## **Theorem 3.1.** Under assumptions (3.1) and (3.2), it holds that

(i) there exists a constant  $c_0$  independent of  $\varepsilon$  such that, for all  $(u_{\varepsilon}) \subset L^p(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$  satisfying  $F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) \leq C$  for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , one can find a sequence  $\overline{u}_{\varepsilon} \in GSBV^p(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$  with

$$\overline{u}_{\varepsilon} - u_{\varepsilon} \to 0$$
 in measure on  $\Omega$ 

$$F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) \ge c_0 \left( \int_{\Omega} W(\mathcal{E}\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}) \, \mathrm{d}x + 2\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}} \cap \Omega) \right).$$

(ii) The functionals  $(F_{\varepsilon})$   $\Gamma$ -converge, as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , to the functional

$$F(u) = \begin{cases} \alpha \int_{\Omega} W(\mathcal{E}u) \, \mathrm{d}x + 2\beta \, \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_u), & \text{if } u \in GSBD^p(\Omega) \cap L^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d), \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise on } L^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d), \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

with respect to the  $L^1$  convergence in  $\Omega$ .

Notice that there is a mismatch between part (i) and (ii) of the previous statement. Indeed, the compactness property in (i) does not entail the  $L^1$ -convergence of a subsequence of  $(u_{\varepsilon})$ . It only allows one to apply Theorem 2.4, which has a weaker statement. However, the  $L^1$ -convergence on the whole  $\Omega$ 

can be easily enforced with the addition of a lower order fidelity term, as we have discussed in Remark 2.5. This motivates the statement below.

There, we consider a continuous increasing function  $\psi:[0,+\infty)\to[0,+\infty)$  such that

$$\psi(0) = 0, \quad \psi(s+t) \le C(\psi(s) + \psi(t)),$$
  
$$\psi(s) \le C(1+s^p), \quad \lim_{s \to +\infty} \frac{\psi(s)}{s} = +\infty$$
 (3.5)

and set for every open set  $A \subset \Omega$ 

$$G_{\varepsilon}(u,A) = \begin{cases} F_{\varepsilon}(u,A) + \int_{A} \psi(|u|) \, \mathrm{d}x, & \text{if } u \in W^{1,p}(A;\mathbb{R}^{d}), \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise on } L^{1}(A;\mathbb{R}^{d}). \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

When  $A = \Omega$ , we simply write  $G_{\varepsilon}(u)$  in place of  $G_{\varepsilon}(u, \Omega)$ . Then we have the following result.

**Theorem 3.2.** Under assumptions (3.1), (3.2), and (3.5) it holds that

- (i) If  $(u_{\varepsilon}) \subset L^p(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$  is such that  $G_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) \leq C$  for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , then  $(u_{\varepsilon})$  is compact in  $L^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$ .
- (ii) The functionals  $(G_{\varepsilon})$   $\Gamma$ -converge, as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , to the functional

$$G(u) = \begin{cases} F(u) + \int_{\Omega} \psi(|u|) \, \mathrm{d}x, & \text{if } u \in GSBD^p(\Omega) \cap L^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d), \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise on } L^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d), \end{cases}$$

with respect to the  $L^1$  convergence in  $\Omega$ .

Remark 3.3. Existence of minimizers for the functional G, and also for F if coupled with a Dirichlet datum, directly follows from Theorem 2.4 (see [20] for details). For fixed  $\varepsilon$ , the functionals  $F_{\varepsilon}$  and  $G_{\varepsilon}$  are lower semicontinuous in  $W^{1,p}(\Omega;\mathbb{R}^d)$ , but clearly not coercive. However, as done in [13, Corollary 3.2], one can perturb f with a sequence  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  of functions having linear growth at infinity, and satisfying  $f(t) \leq f_{\varepsilon}(t) \leq f(t) + a_{\varepsilon}t$  for a sequence  $a_{\varepsilon} = o(\varepsilon)$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  and still recover a  $\Gamma$ -convergence result.

Their argument would also apply to the present situation: notice that only the  $\Gamma$ -limsup inequality has to be adapted, and this is straightforward in the space of regular approximating functions provided by Theorem 2.3. We omit the details of this generalization. If we now replace f with  $f_{\varepsilon}$ , existence of minimizers for  $G_{\varepsilon}$  in  $W^{1,p}$  can be obtained via the direct method. Then, Theorem 3.2 (ii) also gives convergence of the minimizers to a minimizer of G in  $GSBD^{p}(\Omega)$ .

## 4. Compactness

With the following proposition, we prove the compactness statements in Theorem 3.1(i), and Theorem 3.2 (i), respectively.

**Proposition 4.1.** Let  $A \subset \Omega$  be any open subset of  $\Omega$ , and let  $F_{\varepsilon}$ ,  $G_{\varepsilon}$  be defined as in (3.3), and (3.6), respectively. Then:

(i) Assume (3.1), (3.2). If  $(u_{\varepsilon}) \subset L^p(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$  is such that  $F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A) \leq C$  for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , one can find a sequence  $\overline{u}_{\varepsilon} \in GSBV^p(A; \mathbb{R}^d)$  with

$$\overline{u}_{\varepsilon} - u_{\varepsilon} \to 0$$
 in measure on A

$$F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A) \ge c_0 \left( \int_A W(\mathcal{E}\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}) \, \mathrm{d}x + 2\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}} \cap A) \right)$$

for some  $c_0 > 0$ .

(ii) Assume (3.1), (3.2), and (3.5). If  $(u_{\varepsilon}) \subset L^p(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$  is such that  $G_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A) \leq C$  for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , then  $(u_{\varepsilon})$  is compact in  $L^1(A; \mathbb{R}^d)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $\delta \in (0,1)$  be fixed.<sup>2</sup> It suffices to consider here only the case  $f(t) = \min\{at, b\}$  with a, b > 0. In the general case one can indeed find a, b > 0 with  $f(t) \ge \min\{at, b\}$  for all t, using Lemma 2.10, and deduce the result a fortiori. Hence, let us assume  $f(t) = \min\{at, b\}$ . We define

$$C_{\delta} := \frac{\mathcal{L}^d(B_{\varepsilon}(0))}{\mathcal{L}^d(B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(0))} = \frac{1}{(1-\delta)^d}$$

$$\tag{4.1}$$

and the function

$$\psi_{\varepsilon}(x) := \varepsilon \int_{B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x)\cap\Omega} W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(y)) \,\mathrm{d}y.$$

Correspondingly, we introduce the compact set

$$K_{\varepsilon} := \left\{ x \in A : \ \psi_{\varepsilon}(x) \ge C_{\delta} \, \frac{b}{a} \right\}. \tag{4.2}$$

The set  $K_{\varepsilon}$  is actually also depending on the fixed  $\delta$  (as well as the sets  $K''_{\varepsilon}$  and  $K'_{\varepsilon}$  used below) but we omit this dependence to ease notation. We first note that, setting

$$K_{\varepsilon}'' := \{ x \in A : \operatorname{dist}(x, K_{\varepsilon}) \le \delta \varepsilon \},$$

then it holds that

$$K_{\varepsilon}'' \subseteq \left\{ x \in A : \varepsilon \int_{B_{\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y \ge \frac{b}{a} \right\}.$$
 (4.3)

Indeed, if  $x \in K_{\varepsilon}''$  then  $B_{\varepsilon}(x) \supseteq B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(z)$  for some  $z \in K_{\varepsilon}$ , so

$$\varepsilon \int_{B_{\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y \ge \varepsilon \frac{\mathcal{L}^{d}(B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(z))}{\mathcal{L}^{d}(B_{\varepsilon}(x))} \int_{B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(z)} W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y \\
= \frac{\psi_{\varepsilon}(z)}{C_{\delta}} \ge \frac{b}{a}.$$

Now, from the inclusion (4.3) and the fact that f(t) = b for  $t \ge \frac{b}{a}$ , we deduce that

$$\mathcal{L}^{d}(K_{\varepsilon}'') \le \frac{\varepsilon}{b} F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A). \tag{4.4}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>For the purpose of this proof, one could fix  $\delta = \frac{1}{2}$  from the beginning: however, we prefer to work with an arbitrary  $\delta$  as the first part of the construction will be used later on.

Then, applying the coarea formula to the 1-Lipschitz function  $g(x) := \operatorname{dist}(x, K_{\varepsilon})$  (see for instance [28, Theorem 3.14]) in the open set  $\{0 < g(x) < \delta \varepsilon\} \subset K_{\varepsilon}^{r}$  we get

$$\frac{\varepsilon}{b}F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon},A) \ge \mathcal{L}^{d}(K_{\varepsilon}'') \ge \int_{0}^{\delta\varepsilon} \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(\{g=t\}) \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

It follows that we can choose  $0 < \delta'_{\varepsilon} < \delta \varepsilon$  such that, for

$$K_{\varepsilon}' := \{ x \in A : \operatorname{dist}(x, K_{\varepsilon}) \le \delta_{\varepsilon}' \},$$
 (4.5)

it holds

$$\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(\partial K_{\varepsilon}') = \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(\{x \in A : \operatorname{dist}(x, K_{\varepsilon}) = \delta_{\varepsilon}'\}) \le \frac{1}{\delta b} F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A). \tag{4.6}$$

For every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we set

$$\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}(x) = \begin{cases} u_{\varepsilon}(x), & \text{if } x \in A \backslash K'_{\varepsilon}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(4.7)

Note that from (4.4) and the bound  $F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A) \leq C$  it follows that

$$\mathcal{L}^d(\{x \in A: \ \overline{u}_{\varepsilon}(x) \neq u_{\varepsilon}(x)\}) \to 0, \tag{4.8}$$

whence  $\overline{u}_{\varepsilon} - u_{\varepsilon} \to 0$  in measure on A. We prove the following

Claim: there exists a constant N > 0 depending only on d such that

$$\varepsilon (1 - \delta)^d \int_{B_{(1 - \delta)\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y \le N \frac{b}{a}$$

for every  $x \in A$ .

For this, we first note that by definition of  $\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}$ , and since  $W(\mathbf{0}) = 0$  is the minimum value of W, one has  $W(\mathcal{E}\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}(x)) \leq W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(x))$  for a.e. x. Now, when  $x \in A \setminus K'_{\varepsilon}$ , it holds  $x \notin K_{\varepsilon}$  so that by definition of  $K_{\varepsilon}$  we have

$$\varepsilon (1-\delta)^d f_{B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}\overline{u}_\varepsilon(y)) \, \mathrm{d} y \le \varepsilon (1-\delta)^d f_{B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}u_\varepsilon(y)) \, \mathrm{d} y \le \frac{b}{a}.$$

On the other hand, if  $x \in K'_{\varepsilon}$ , then Remark 2.8 shows the existence of a finite subset of  $A \setminus K'_{\varepsilon}$ , say  $\{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_N\}$ , where N only depends on the dimension d, such that

$$(A\backslash K'_{\varepsilon}) \cap B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x) \subseteq \bigcup_{i=1}^{N} B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x_i). \tag{4.9}$$

We then have, with (4.7) and (4.9),

$$\int_{B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y = \int_{B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x)\cap(A\setminus K'_{\varepsilon})} W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x_{i})} W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y$$

$$\leq \frac{N\mathcal{L}^{d}(B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon})}{\varepsilon(1-\delta)^{d}} \frac{b}{a},$$

where in the latter inequality we used the fact that the points  $x_i \notin K'_{\varepsilon}$ . This concludes the proof of the claim.

Since  $W \geq 0$  and f is nondecreasing, we have the estimate

$$F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A) \ge \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{A} f\left(\varepsilon(1 - \delta)^{d} \int_{B_{(1 - \delta)\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y\right) \, \mathrm{d}x. \tag{4.10}$$

Moreover, if  $t \leq N \frac{b}{a}$ , one has the elementary inequality  $\min\{at, b\} \geq \frac{a}{N}t$ . With this, recalling that  $W(\mathcal{E}\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}(x)) \leq W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(x))$  for a.e. x, using the Claim, (4.10) and the monotonicity of f we obtain the estimate

$$F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A) \geq \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{A} f\left(\varepsilon(1 - \delta)^{d} \int_{B_{(1 - \delta)\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y\right) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{A} f\left(\varepsilon(1 - \delta)^{d} \int_{B_{(1 - \delta)\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y\right) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$\geq \frac{a}{N} \int_{A} \left( \int_{B_{(1 - \delta)\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y \right) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$= \frac{a}{N\omega_{d}} \int_{A \times B_{1}(0)} W(\mathcal{E}\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}(x + (1 - \delta)\varepsilon z)) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}z$$

where we changed variables  $y = x + (1 - \delta)\varepsilon z$  and used Fubini's Theorem. Since  $W \ge 0$  with a further change of variables and using (3.2) we conclude

$$F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A) \ge \frac{a}{N} \int_{A} W(\mathcal{E}\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}(x)) dx \ge \frac{ca}{N} \int_{A} |\mathcal{E}\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}(x)|^{p} dx.$$
 (4.11)

Since by definition (4.7) we have that  $J_{\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}} = \partial K'_{\varepsilon}$ , with (4.6), (4.11) and from the assumption  $F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A) \leq C$  we deduce that  $\overline{u}_{\varepsilon} \in GSBV^p(A; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Moreover, setting  $c_0 := \frac{1}{2} \min\{\frac{a}{N}, \frac{b\delta}{2}\}$ , we infer the lower bound

$$F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A) \ge c_0 \left( \int_A W(\mathcal{E}\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}) \, \mathrm{d}x + 2\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}} \cap A) \right).$$
 (4.12)

Combining with (4.8), this proves (i).

For what concerns (ii), notice that by (3.5) and (4.7) it holds  $\psi(|\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}(x)|) \leq \psi(|u_{\varepsilon}(x)|)$  for a.e.  $x \in \Omega$ . Since  $F_{\varepsilon} \leq G_{\varepsilon}$ , from  $G_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A) \leq C$  and (4.12) we infer that

$$\int_{A} \psi(|\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}(x)|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{A} |\mathcal{E}\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}(x)|^{p} \, \mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{\overline{u}_{\varepsilon}} \cap A) \le C < +\infty$$

for all  $\varepsilon$ . Thus, in view of the growth assumption (3.5) on  $\psi$ , by Theorem 2.4 and Remark 2.5, the sequence  $(\overline{u}_{\varepsilon})$  is compact in  $L^1(A; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . By (4.8) and the Vitali dominated convergence Theorem, we conclude that  $(u_{\varepsilon})$  is compact in  $L^1(A; \mathbb{R}^d)$  as well.

#### 5. Estimate from below of the $\Gamma$ -limit

#### 5.1. Estimate from below of the bulk term

We begin by giving a first estimate of the  $\Gamma$ -liminf of the functionals  $F_{\varepsilon}$ . This estimate is optimal (up to a small error) for the bulk part of the energy, while it is not, for what concerns the surface part. An optimal estimate for this term will be provided separately by means of a slicing argument (see Proposition 5.2 below). As the two parts of the energy are mutually singular, the localization method of Lemma 2.9 will eventually allow us to get the  $\Gamma$ -liminf inequality.

**Proposition 5.1.** Let A be an open set with  $A \subset\subset \Omega$ , and consider a sequence  $u_{\varepsilon} \in W^{1,p}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$  converging to u in  $L^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Assume (3.1) and (3.2). Then, for every fixed  $0 < \delta < 1$ , there exist a constant  $M_{\delta}$  only depending on f and  $\delta$  and a sequence of functions  $(v_{\varepsilon}^{\delta}) \subset GSBV^p(A; \mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

(i) 
$$\alpha (1-\delta)^{2d+1} \int_A W(\mathcal{E}v_{\varepsilon}^{\delta}(x)) dx \leq F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A);$$

- (ii)  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{v_{\varepsilon}^{\delta}}) \leq \widetilde{M}_{\delta} F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A);$
- (iii)  $v_{\varepsilon}^{\delta} \to u \text{ in } L^1(A; \mathbb{R}^d) \text{ as } \varepsilon \to 0.$

*Proof.* We divide the proof into two steps.

**Step 1**: we first consider the case  $f(t) = \min\{at, b\}$ , with a, b > 0. Observe that in this case the value  $\alpha$  given by (3.1) coincides exactly with a. We can clearly assume that

$$\sup_{\varepsilon > 0} F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A) \le C, \tag{5.1}$$

otherwise the assertion is immediate. Corresponding to the fixed  $\delta > 0$  and for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we define the constant  $C_{\delta}$ , and the sets  $K_{\varepsilon}$  and  $K'_{\varepsilon}$  as in (4.1), (4.2) and (4.5), respectively. We define a sequence  $(v_{\varepsilon}^{\delta})$  of functions in  $GSBV^{p}(A; \mathbb{R}^{d})$  as

$$v_{\varepsilon}^{\delta}(x) := \begin{cases} \int_{B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x)} u_{\varepsilon}(y) \, \mathrm{d}y & \text{if } x \in A \backslash K_{\varepsilon}', \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
 (5.2)

Then (iii) immediately follows from Lemma 2.7(i) and the fact that, by construction and (4.4), it holds  $\mathcal{L}^d(K'_{\varepsilon}) \to 0$  when  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . We also have  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{v_{\varepsilon}^{\delta}}) \leq \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(\partial K'_{\varepsilon})$ , so that with (4.6) we deduce (ii) for  $M_{\delta} = \frac{1}{\delta h}$ .

To prove (i), we observe that, since  $K_{\varepsilon} \subset K'_{\varepsilon}$  and  $A \subset\subset \Omega$ , it holds

$$\varepsilon f_{B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y < C_{\delta} \frac{b}{a}$$

for all  $x \in A \setminus K'_{\varepsilon}$ . As  $C_{\delta} > 1$  and  $f(t) = \min\{at, b\}$ , we deduce the elementary inequality

$$f\left(\varepsilon \oint_{B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y\right) \ge \frac{a}{C_{\delta}} \varepsilon \oint_{B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y \qquad (5.3)$$

for all  $x \in A \setminus K'_{\varepsilon}$ . Now, since the function f is concave and f(0) = 0,

$$f(\lambda t) \ge \lambda f(t), \quad \forall \lambda \in [0, 1].$$
 (5.4)

With (5.3), (5.4), the monotonicity of f, the convexity of W, (2.10) and (5.2) we get

$$\begin{split} F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon},A) &\geq \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{A \setminus K_{\varepsilon}'} f\left(\varepsilon \oint_{B_{\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(y)) \,\mathrm{d}y\right) \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\geq \frac{1}{\varepsilon C_{\delta}} \int_{A \setminus K_{\varepsilon}'} f\left(\varepsilon \oint_{B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(y)) \,\mathrm{d}y\right) \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\geq \frac{a}{\varepsilon C_{\delta}^{2}} \int_{A \setminus K_{\varepsilon}'} \left(\varepsilon \oint_{B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x)} W(\mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(y)) \,\mathrm{d}y\right) \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\geq \frac{a}{C_{\delta}^{2}} \int_{A \setminus K_{\varepsilon}'} W\left(\oint_{B_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon}(x)} \mathcal{E}u_{\varepsilon}(y) \,\mathrm{d}y\right) \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &= a(1-\delta)^{2d} \int_{A \setminus K_{\varepsilon}'} W(\mathcal{E}v_{\varepsilon}^{\delta}(x)) \,\mathrm{d}x = a(1-\delta)^{2d} \int_{A} W(\mathcal{E}v_{\varepsilon}^{\delta}(x)) \,\mathrm{d}x, \end{split}$$

which implies assertion (i). This concludes the proof of Step 1.

Step 2: for a general f complying with (3.1), use Lemma 2.10 to find  $a_{\delta}, b_{\delta} > 0$  with  $a_{\delta} \geq \alpha(1 - \delta)$  and  $f(t) \geq \min\{a_{\delta}t, b_{\delta}\}$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , and perform the same construction as in the previous step. This gives (iii), (ii) (with  $M_{\delta} := \frac{1}{\delta b_{\delta}}$ ) and

$$F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}, A) \ge a_{\delta}(1 - \delta)^{2d} \int_{A} W(\mathcal{E}v_{\varepsilon}^{\delta}(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x \ge \alpha (1 - \delta)^{2d + 1} \int_{A} W(\mathcal{E}v_{\varepsilon}^{\delta}(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$
that is (i).

#### 5.2. Estimate from below of the surface term

For any  $A \subset \Omega$  open set, we denote by F'(u, A) the lower  $\Gamma$ -limit of  $F_{\varepsilon}(u, A)$ , as defined in (2.12). We note that, since  $F_{\varepsilon}(u, \cdot)$  is superadditive as a set function, the lower  $\Gamma$ -limit  $F'(u, \cdot)$  inherits an analogous property; namely,

$$F'(u, A_1 \cup A_2) \ge F'(u, A_1) + F'(u, A_2)$$
 whenever  $A_1 \cap A_2 = \emptyset$ . (5.5)

**Proposition 5.2.** Assume (3.1) and (3.2). Let  $\delta \in (0,1)$  be fixed, and consider a sequence  $\varepsilon_j \to 0$ . Let  $A \subset \Omega$  be an open set,  $u_j \in W^{1,p}(A; \mathbb{R}^d)$  converging to u in  $L^1(A; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Assume that

$$\liminf_{j \to +\infty} F_{\varepsilon_j}(u_j, A) < +\infty.$$

Then  $u \in GSBD^p(A)$  and

$$\lim_{j \to +\infty} \inf F_{\varepsilon_j}(u_j, A) \ge 2\beta (1 - \delta) \int_{J_u^{\xi} \cap A} |\langle \nu, \xi \rangle| \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$$
 (5.6)

for every  $\xi \in S^{d-1}$ .

*Proof.* It follows from Proposition 4.1 and Theorem 2.4 that  $u \in GSBD^p(A)$ . To prove (5.6), we first note that, by virtue of the growth assumption (3.2), we have

$$W(\mathcal{E}u) \ge c|\mathcal{E}u|^p \ge c|\langle (\mathcal{E}u)\xi, \xi \rangle|^p,$$

for every  $\xi \in S^{d-1}$ . Thus, for every fixed  $\xi$ , since f is non-decreasing, it will be sufficient to provide a lower estimate for the energies

$$F_{\varepsilon_j}^{\xi}(u_j, A) := \frac{1}{\varepsilon_j} \int_A f\left(\frac{c}{\omega_d \varepsilon_j^{d-1}} \int_{B_{\varepsilon_j}(x)} |\langle (\mathcal{E}u_j(z))\xi, \xi \rangle|^p \, \mathrm{d}z\right) \, \mathrm{d}x. \quad (5.7)$$

We proceed by a slicing argument. If for each  $x \in A$  we denote by  $x_{\xi}$  and  $x_{\xi^{\perp}}$  the projections of x onto  $\Xi$  and  $\Pi^{\xi}$ , respectively, we have

$$\begin{split} &F_{\varepsilon_{j}}^{\xi}(u_{j},A) \\ &= \int_{\Pi^{\xi}} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(x_{\xi^{\perp}}) \left( \frac{1}{\varepsilon_{j}} \int_{A_{\xi,x_{\xi^{\perp}}}} f\left( \frac{c}{\omega_{d} \varepsilon_{j}^{d-1}} \int_{B_{\varepsilon_{j}}(x)} |\langle (\mathcal{E}u_{j}(z))\xi, \xi \rangle|^{p} dz \right) dx_{\xi} \right) \\ &\geq \int_{\Pi^{\xi}} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(x_{\xi^{\perp}}) \left( \frac{1}{\varepsilon_{j}} \int_{A_{\xi,x_{\xi^{\perp}}}} f\left( \frac{c}{\omega_{d} \varepsilon_{j}^{d-1}} \int_{C_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon_{j}}^{\xi}(x)} |\langle (\mathcal{E}u_{j}(z))\xi, \xi \rangle|^{p} dz \right) dx_{\xi} \right), \end{split}$$

$$(5.8)$$

since by definition  $C^{\xi}_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon_i}(x) \subseteq B_{\varepsilon_i}(x)$ .

We now set

$$F_{\varepsilon_j}^{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}(u_j, A_{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}) := \frac{1}{\varepsilon_j} \int_{A_{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}} f\left(\frac{c}{\omega_d \varepsilon_j^{d-1}} \int_{C_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon_j}^{\xi}(x)} |\langle (\mathcal{E}u_j(z))\xi, \xi \rangle|^p dz\right) dx_{\xi}.$$

For  $r_{\delta} := \sqrt{\delta(2-\delta)}$ , recall that  $C_{(1-\delta)\varepsilon_j}^{\xi}(x) = (x_{\xi} - (1-\delta)\varepsilon_j, x_{\xi} + (1-\delta)\varepsilon_j) \times B_{r_{\delta}\varepsilon_j}^{d-1}(x_{\xi^{\perp}})$ , and denote (with a slight abuse of notation) still with z the (d-1)-dimensional variable in  $B_{r_{\delta}\varepsilon_j}^{d-1}(x_{\xi^{\perp}})$ . Set

$$w_j^{\xi,x_{\xi^{\perp}}}(t) := \int_{B^{d-1}_{r_{\delta}\varepsilon_{i}}(x_{\varepsilon^{\perp}})} \langle u_{j}(z+t\xi)), \xi \rangle \,\mathrm{d}z.$$

By virtue of Lemma 2.7(ii), applied with  $\eta_{\varepsilon_j}=r_\delta\varepsilon_j$ , we have that  $w_j^{\xi,x_{\xi^\perp}}$  converges to  $u^{\xi,x_{\xi^\perp}}$  in  $L^1(A_{\xi,x_{\xi^\perp}})$  for a.e.  $x_{\xi^\perp}$ . Furthermore, for  $c(d,\delta):=\frac{c\omega_{d-1}r_\delta^{d-1}}{\omega_d}$ , Fubini's Theorem, Jensen's inequality and the monotonicity of f

entail that

NoDEA

$$\begin{split} &F_{\varepsilon_{j}}^{\xi,x}\varepsilon^{\perp}\left(u_{j},A_{\xi,x_{\xi^{\perp}}}\right)\\ &=\frac{1}{\varepsilon_{j}}\int_{A_{\xi,x_{\xi^{\perp}}}}f\left(\frac{c}{\omega_{d}\varepsilon_{j}^{d-1}}\int_{B_{r_{\delta}\varepsilon_{j}}^{d-1}(x_{\xi^{\perp}})}\mathrm{d}z\int_{x_{\xi}-(1-\delta)\varepsilon_{j}}^{x_{\xi}+(1-\delta)\varepsilon_{j}}\left|\left\langle(\mathcal{E}u_{j}(z+t\xi))\xi,\xi\right\rangle\right|^{p}\mathrm{d}t\right)\mathrm{d}x_{\xi}\\ &=\frac{1}{\varepsilon_{j}}\int_{A_{\xi,x_{\xi^{\perp}}}}f\left(\frac{c}{\omega_{d}\varepsilon_{j}^{d-1}}\int_{x_{\xi}-(1-\delta)\varepsilon_{j}}^{x_{\xi}+(1-\delta)\varepsilon_{j}}\left(\int_{B_{r_{\delta}\varepsilon_{j}}^{d-1}(x_{\xi^{\perp}})}\left|\left\langle(\mathcal{E}u_{j}(z+t\xi))\xi,\xi\right\rangle\right|^{p}\mathrm{d}z\right)\mathrm{d}t\right)\mathrm{d}x_{\xi}\\ &\geq\frac{1}{\varepsilon_{j}}\int_{A_{\xi,x_{\xi^{\perp}}}}f\left(\frac{c\omega_{d-1}r_{\delta}^{d-1}}{\omega_{d}}\int_{x_{\xi}-(1-\delta)\varepsilon_{j}}^{x_{\xi}+(1-\delta)\varepsilon_{j}}\left(\int_{B_{r_{\delta}\varepsilon_{j}}^{d-1}(x_{\xi^{\perp}})}\left\langle(\mathcal{E}u_{j}(z+t\xi))\xi,\xi\right\rangle\mathrm{d}z\right)^{p}\mathrm{d}t\right)\mathrm{d}x_{\xi}\\ &=\frac{1}{\varepsilon_{j}}\int_{A_{\xi,x_{\xi^{\perp}}}}f\left(c(d,\delta)\int_{x_{\xi}-(1-\delta)\varepsilon_{j}}^{x_{\xi}+(1-\delta)\varepsilon_{j}}\left|\dot{w}_{j}^{\xi,x_{\xi^{\perp}}}(t)\right|^{p}\mathrm{d}t\right)\mathrm{d}x_{\xi}\\ &=(1-\delta)\frac{1}{(1-\delta)\varepsilon_{j}}\int_{A_{\xi,x_{\xi^{\perp}}}}f\left(c(d,\delta)\int_{x_{\xi}-(1-\delta)\varepsilon_{j}}^{x_{\xi}+(1-\delta)\varepsilon_{j}}\left|\dot{w}_{j}^{\xi,x_{\xi^{\perp}}}(t)\right|^{p}\mathrm{d}t\right)\mathrm{d}x_{\xi}. \end{split}$$

Since the function  $t \mapsto f(c(d, \delta)t)$  still tends to  $\beta$  when  $t \to +\infty$ , applying Theorem 2.11 to the one-dimensional energies

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{F}_{\varepsilon_j}^{\xi,x_{\xi^\perp}}(w_j^{\xi,x_{\xi^\perp}},A_{\xi,x_{\xi^\perp}}) \\ := \frac{1}{(1-\delta)\varepsilon_j} \int_{A_{\xi,x_{\xi^\perp}}} f\left(c(d,\delta) \int_{x_{\xi}-(1-\delta)\varepsilon_j}^{x_{\xi}+(1-\delta)\varepsilon_j} |\dot{w}_j^{\xi,x_{\xi^\perp}}(t)|^p \,\mathrm{d}t\right) \,\mathrm{d}x_{\xi} \end{split}$$

we deduce the lower bound

$$\liminf_{j \to +\infty} \widetilde{F}_{\varepsilon_j}^{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}(w_j^{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}, A_{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}) \ge 2\beta \# (J_u^{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}} \cap A_{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}). \tag{5.10}$$

Consequently, from (5.9) and (5.10) we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \liminf_{j \to +\infty} F_{\varepsilon_j}^{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}(u_j, A_{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}) &\geq (1 - \delta) \liminf_{j \to +\infty} \widetilde{F}_{\varepsilon_j}^{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}(w_j^{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}, A_{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}) \\ &\geq 2\beta (1 - \delta) \#(J_{u^{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}} \cap A_{\xi, x_{\varepsilon^{\perp}}}). \end{split}$$

Taking into account (5.8), with Fatou's Lemma we then have

$$\lim_{j \to +\infty} \inf F_{\varepsilon_{j}}(u_{j}, A) \geq \lim_{j \to +\infty} \inf \int_{\Pi^{\xi}} F_{\varepsilon_{j}}^{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}(u_{j}, A_{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(x_{\xi^{\perp}})$$

$$\geq \int_{\Pi^{\xi}} \left( \liminf_{j \to +\infty} F_{\varepsilon_{j}}^{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}(u_{j}, A_{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}) \right) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(x_{\xi^{\perp}})$$

$$\geq 2\beta(1 - \delta) \int_{\Pi^{\xi}} \#(J_{u^{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}} \cap A_{\xi, x_{\xi^{\perp}}}) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(x_{\xi^{\perp}})$$

$$= 2\beta(1 - \delta) \int_{J_{u}^{\xi} \cap A} |\langle \nu_{u}, \xi \rangle| d\mathcal{H}^{d-1},$$

and the proof of (5.6) concludes.

#### 5.3. Proof of the $\Gamma$ -liminf inequality

We summarize the results of the previous sections in the following Proposition. The  $\Gamma$ -liminf G' of the sequence  $(G_{\varepsilon})$  is defined as in (2.12), with  $G_{\varepsilon}$  in place of  $F_{\varepsilon}$ . It holds that  $G'(u,A) \geq F'(u,A)$  for each open subset  $A \subset \Omega$  and  $u \in L^1(A; \mathbb{R}^d)$  (see, e.g., [26, Proposition 6.7]).

**Proposition 5.3.** Assume (3.1), (3.2), and (3.5). Consider  $F_{\varepsilon}$ , and  $G_{\varepsilon}$  given by (3.3), and (3.6), respectively. Let  $u \in L^{1}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{d})$  and let A be an open subset of  $\Omega$ , and define F'(u, A) and G'(u, A) by (2.12). If  $F'(u, A) < +\infty$ , then  $u \in GSBD^{p}(A)$  and

(i) 
$$F'(u, A) \ge \alpha \int_A W(\mathcal{E}u) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
,

(ii) 
$$G'(u, A) \ge F'(u, A) \ge 2\beta \int_{J_u^{\xi} \cap A} |\langle \nu_u, \xi \rangle| d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$$

for every  $\xi \in S^{d-1}$ . If it additionally holds  $G'(u,A) < +\infty$ , then one also has

(iii) 
$$G'(u, A) \ge \alpha \int_A W(\mathcal{E}u) dx + \int_A \psi(|u|) dx.$$

*Proof.* First we note that, by the definition of Γ-liminf (2.12) and a diagonal argument, there exist subsequences (not relabeled)  $(u_j)$  and  $(\hat{u}_j)$  converging to u in  $L^1(A; \mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

$$F'(u,A) = \liminf_{j \to +\infty} F_{\varepsilon_j}(u_j,A), \quad G'(u,A) = \liminf_{j \to +\infty} G_{\varepsilon_j}(\hat{u}_j,A).$$

The first equality and Proposition 5.2 give that, if  $F'(u, A) < +\infty$ , then  $u \in GSBD^p(A)$ . By the second one, the superadditivity of the liminf, Fatou's lemma and (2.12), we have

$$G'(u, A) = \liminf_{j \to +\infty} G_{\varepsilon_j}(\hat{u}_j, A) \ge \liminf_{j \to +\infty} F_{\varepsilon_j}(\hat{u}_j, A) + \liminf_{j \to +\infty} \int_A \psi(|\hat{u}_j|) dx$$
$$\ge F'(u, A) + \int_A \psi(|u|) dx.$$

Hence, if (i) is proved, (iii) follows immediately.

We only have to confirm (i) and (ii). To this aim, let  $\delta \in (0,1)$  be fixed. Then, by applying Proposition 5.1 to the sequence  $(u_j)$ , there exists a sequence of functions  $(v_j^{\delta}) \subset GSBV^p(A; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , converging to u in  $L^1(A)$  as  $\varepsilon_j \to 0$ , such that

(a) 
$$(1-\delta)^{2d+1} \int_A W(\mathcal{E}v_j^{\delta}(x)) dx \le F_{\varepsilon_j}(u_j, A);$$

(b) 
$$\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{v_i^{\delta}} \cap A) \leq M_{\delta} F_{\varepsilon_j}(u_j, A).$$

Combining (a) and (b) with the equiboundedness of  $F_{\varepsilon_j}(u_j, A)$ , one can apply the lower semicontinuity part of Theorem 2.4 to the sequence  $(v_j^{\delta})$ . Taking into account that  $A^{\infty} = \emptyset$  because  $u \in L^1(A; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , by the convexity of W and (2.9),

(ii), we have

$$\alpha (1 - \delta)^{2d+1} \int_{A} W(\mathcal{E}u(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x \le \liminf_{j \to +\infty} \int_{A} W(\mathcal{E}v_{j}^{\delta}(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
  
$$\le \liminf_{j \to +\infty} F_{\varepsilon_{j}}(u_{j}, A) = F'(u, A).$$

By letting  $\delta \to 0$  above we then obtain (i)

As for (ii), by Proposition 5.2, in particular from (5.6), we get

$$2\beta(1-\delta)\int_{I_{\varepsilon}^{\xi}\cap A} |\langle \nu_{u}, \xi \rangle| \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} \le \liminf_{j \to +\infty} F_{\varepsilon_{j}}(u_{j}, A) = F'(u, A)$$

for every  $\xi \in S^{d-1}$ , so that (ii) follows by taking the limit as  $\delta \to 0$  again.  $\Box$ 

We are now in a position to prove the  $\Gamma$ -liminf inequality.

**Proposition 5.4.** Assume (3.1), (3.2), and (3.5). Consider  $F_{\varepsilon}$ , and  $G_{\varepsilon}$  given by (3.3), and (3.6), respectively. Let  $u \in L^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$  and let A be an open subset of  $\Omega$ , and define F'(u, A) and G'(u, A) by (2.12). If  $F'(u, A) < +\infty$ , then  $u \in GSBD^p(A)$  and

$$F'(u, A) \ge \alpha \int_A W(\mathcal{E}u) dx + 2\beta \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_u \cap A).$$

If it additionally holds  $G'(u, A) < +\infty$ , then

$$G'(u, A) \ge \alpha \int_{A} W(\mathcal{E}u) dx + 2\beta \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_u \cap A) + \int_{A} \psi(|u|) dx.$$

*Proof.* We only prove the second inequality, which contains an additional term. Let  $(\xi_h)_{h\geq 1}$  be a dense sequence in  $S^{d-1}$  and let  $(\mu_h)_{h\geq 0}$  be the sequence of bounded positive measures defined by

$$\mu_0(A) = \int_A (\alpha W(\mathcal{E}u(x)) + \psi(|u(x)|)) \, dx, \ \mu_h(A) = 2\beta \int_{J_u \cap A} \phi^{\xi_h}(x) \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(x),$$

where

$$\phi^{\xi_h}(x) = \begin{cases} |\langle \nu_u(x), \xi_h \rangle|, & \text{if } x \in J_u^{\xi_h} \cap A, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise in } J_u \cap A. \end{cases}$$

Let  $\lambda$  be the bounded positive measure defined by

$$\lambda(A) := \mathcal{L}^d(A) + \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_u \cap A),$$

and let  $(\varphi_h)_{h\geq 0}$  be the sequence of  $\lambda$ -measurable functions on A defined as

$$\varphi_0(x) := \begin{cases} \alpha W(\mathcal{E}u(x)) + \psi(|u(x)|), & \text{if } x \in A \backslash J_u, \\ 0, & \text{if } x \in A \cap J_u, \end{cases}$$
$$\varphi_h(x) := \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } x \in A \backslash J_u, \\ 2\beta \phi^{\xi_h}(x), & \text{if } x \in A \cap J_u. \end{cases}$$

Then  $\mu_h(A) = \int_A \varphi_h d\lambda$  for every  $h = 0, 1, \dots$ 

Setting

$$\varphi(x) := \begin{cases} \alpha W(\mathcal{E}u(x)) + \psi(|u(x)|), & \text{if } x \in A \backslash J_u, \\ 2\beta, & \text{if } x \in A \cap J_u, \end{cases}$$

we have that  $\sup_{h>0} \varphi_h(x) = \varphi(x)$  for  $\lambda$ -a.e.  $x \in A$ .

We now define  $\mu(A) := G'(u, A)$ . By virtue of Proposition 5.3 we have that

$$\mu(A) \ge \mu_h(A) = \int_A \varphi_h d\lambda$$

for every  $h=0,1,\ldots$  Since  $\mu$  complies with (5.5), as a consequence of Lemma 2.9, we get

$$G'(u, A) = \mu(A) \ge \int_A \varphi d\lambda$$
  
=  $\alpha \int_A W(\mathcal{E}u) dx + 2\beta \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_u \cap A) + \int_A \psi(|u|) dx.$ 

#### 6. Estimate from above of the $\Gamma$ -limit

We denote by F'' and G'' the upper  $\Gamma$ -limits of  $(F_{\varepsilon})$  and  $(G_{\varepsilon})$ , respectively, as defined in (2.13).

**Proposition 6.1.** Let  $u \in GSBD^p(\Omega) \cap L^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then

$$F''(u) \le \alpha \int_{\Omega} W(\mathcal{E}u) \, \mathrm{d}x + 2\beta \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_u). \tag{6.1}$$

If, in addition, it holds that  $\int_{\Omega} \psi(|u|) dx < +\infty$ , then

$$G''(u) \le \alpha \int_{\Omega} W(\mathcal{E}u) \, \mathrm{d}x + 2\beta \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_u) + \int_{\Omega} \psi(|u|) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$
 (6.2)

*Proof.* We only prove (6.1) by using the density result of Theorem 2.3, as (6.2) follows by an analogous construction with the additional property (2.7).

In view of Theorem 2.3 and remarks below, by a diagonal argument it is not restrictive to assume that  $u \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$  and that  $J_u$  is a closed subset of any of the coordinate hyperplanes, that we denote by K.

Let  $K_h := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : \operatorname{dist}(x, K) < h\}$  for every h > 0, and let  $\gamma_{\varepsilon} > 0$  be a sequence such that  $\gamma_{\varepsilon}/\varepsilon \to 0$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Notice that, for  $\varepsilon$  small,

$$K \subset K_{\gamma_{\varepsilon}} \subset \subset K_{\gamma_{\varepsilon}+\varepsilon} \subset \subset \Omega,$$

recalling that  $K \subset \Omega$ . Let  $\phi_{\varepsilon}$  be a smooth cut-off function between  $K_{\gamma_{\varepsilon}}$  and  $K_{\gamma_{\varepsilon}+\varepsilon}$ , and set

$$u_{\varepsilon}(x) := u(x)(1 - \phi_{\varepsilon}(x)).$$

Since  $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\Omega \setminus J_u; \mathbb{R}^d)$  we have  $u_{\varepsilon} \in W^{1,\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Note also that, by the Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem,  $u_{\varepsilon} \to u$  in  $L^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Moreover, since  $u_{\varepsilon} = u$  on  $B_{\varepsilon}(x) \cap \Omega$  if  $x \notin K_{\gamma_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon}$ , we have

$$F_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) \le \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{\Omega} f\left(\varepsilon \oint_{B_{\varepsilon}(x) \cap \Omega} W(\mathcal{E}u(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y\right) \, \mathrm{d}x + \beta \, \frac{\mathcal{L}^{d}(K_{\gamma_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon})}{\varepsilon}. \tag{6.3}$$

Setting

$$w_{\varepsilon}(x) := \int_{B_{\varepsilon}(x) \cap \Omega} W(\mathcal{E}u(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y,$$

we have that  $w_{\varepsilon}(x)$  converges to  $w(x) := W(\mathcal{E}u(x))$  in  $L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Since f complies with (3.1) and it is increasing, there exists  $\tilde{\alpha} > \alpha$  such that  $f(t) \leq \tilde{\alpha}t$  for every  $t \geq 0$ . This gives

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon}f(\varepsilon w_{\varepsilon}(x)) \leq \tilde{\alpha}w_{\varepsilon}(x) \quad \text{ for every } x \in \Omega \text{ and every } \varepsilon > 0,$$

and, taking into account that  $\lim_{t\to 0^+} \frac{f(t)}{t} = \alpha$ , we also infer that

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon}f(\varepsilon w_{\varepsilon}(x)) \to \alpha w(x) \quad \text{ for a.e. } x \in \Omega.$$

Thus, by Lebesgue's Dominated Convergence Theorem,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{\Omega} f\left(\varepsilon \oint_{B_{\varepsilon}(x) \cap \Omega} W(\mathcal{E}u(y)) \,\mathrm{d}y\right) \,\mathrm{d}x = \alpha \int_{\Omega} W(\mathcal{E}u) \,\mathrm{d}x.$$

Noting that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \beta \, \frac{\mathcal{L}^d(K_{\gamma_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon})}{\varepsilon} = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \beta \, \frac{\mathcal{L}^d(K_{\gamma_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon})}{2(\gamma_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon)} \, \frac{2(\gamma_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon)}{\varepsilon} = 2\beta \, \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_u),$$

from (6.3), the subadditivity of the limsup and (2.13) we get (6.1).

*Proof of Proof of Theorems 3.1 and 3.2.* The two results follow by combining Propositions 4.1, 5.4, and 6.1

# Acknowledgements

The authors are members of Gruppo Nazionale per l'Analisi Matematica, la Probabilità e le loro Applicazioni (GNAMPA) of INdAM. They have been supported by the Italian Ministry of Education, University and Research through the Project "Variational methods for stationary and evolution problems with singularities and interfaces" (PRIN 2017). The authors gratefully acknowledge the anonymous referee for a careful reading of the paper and for her/his interesting remarks leading to improvements of the manuscript.

**Funding** Open access funding provided by Università degli Studi di Napoli Federico II within the CRUI-CARE Agreement.

Open Access. This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit <a href="https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/">https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</a>.

**Publisher's Note** Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### References

- [1] Alicandro, R., Focardi, M., Gelli, M.S.: Finite-difference approximation of energies in fracture mechanics. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. 29, 671–709 (2000)
- [2] Ambrosio, L., Coscia, A., Dal Maso, G.: Fine properties of functions with bounded deformation. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 139, 201–238 (1997)
- [3] Ambrosio, L., Fusco, N., Pallara, D.: Functions of Bounded Variation and Free Discontinuity Problems. Clarendon Press, London (2000)
- [4] Ambrosio, L., Tortorelli, V.M.: Approximation of functionals depending on jumps by elliptic functionals via Γ-convergence. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 43, 999–1036 (1990)
- [5] Ambrosio, L., Tortorelli, V.M.: On the approximation of free-discontinuity problems. Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. 6-B, 105–123 (1992)
- [6] Bach, A., Braides, A., Zeppieri, C.I.: Quantitative analysis of finite-difference approximations of free-discontinuity problems. Interfaces Free Bound. 22, 317– 381 (2020)
- [7] Bach, A., Cicalese, M., Ruf, M.: Random finite-difference discretizations of the Ambrosio-Tortorelli functional with optimal mesh size. To appear on SIAM J. Math. Anal., arXiv:1902.08437 (2019)
- [8] Bellettini, G., Coscia, A.: Discrete approximation of a free discontinuity problem. Numer. Funct. Anal. Optim. 15, 201–224 (1994)
- [9] Bellettini, G., Coscia, A., Dal Maso, G.: Compactness and lower semicontinuity properties in SBD(Ω). Math. Z. 228, 337–351 (1998)
- [10] Bourdin, B., Francfort, G., Marigo, J.-J.: The variational approach to fracture. J. Elasticity 91, 5–148 (2008)
- [11] Braides, A.: Approximation of Free-Discontinuity Problems. Springer, London (1998)

- [12] Braides, A.: Γ-Convergence for Beginners. Oxford University Press, Oxford (2002)
- [13] Braides, A., Dal Maso, G.: Non-local approximation of the Mumford–Shah functional. Calc. Var. 5, 293–322 (1997)
- [14] Braides, A., Garroni, A.: On the non-local approximation of free-discontinuity problems. Commun. Partial Diff. Equ. 23, 817–829 (1998)
- [15] Caroccia, M., Chambolle, A., Slepčev, D.: Mumford–Shah functionals on graphs and their asymptotics. Nonlinearity 33, 3846–3888 (2020)
- [16] Chambolle, A.: Image segmentation by variational methods: Mumford and Shah functional and the discrete approximations. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 55, 827–863 (1995)
- [17] Chambolle, A., Conti, S., Iurlano, F.: Approximation of functions with small jump sets and existence of strong minimizers of Griffith's energy. J. Math Pure Appl. 128, 119–139 (2019)
- [18] Chambolle, A., Crismale, V.: A density result in GSBD<sup>p</sup> with applications to the approximation of brittle fracture energies. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 232, 1329–1378 (2019)
- [19] Chambolle, A., Crismale, V.: Existence of strong solutions to the Dirichlet problem for the Griffith energy. Calc. Var. 58, 1 (2019)
- [20] Chambolle, A., Crismale, V.: Compactness and lower semicontinuity in GSBD. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) (2020). https://doi.org/10.4171/JEMS/1021
- [21] Chambolle, A., Dal Maso, G.: Discrete approximation of the Mumford–Shah functional in dimension two. Math. Model. Numer. Anal. 33, 651–672 (1999)
- [22] Conti, S., Focardi, M., Iurlano, F.: Existence of strong minimizers for the Griffith static fracture model in dimension two. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 36, 455–474 (2019)
- [23] Cortesani, G., Toader, R.: A density result in SBV with respect to non-isotropic energies. Nonlinear Anal. 38, 585–604 (1999)
- [24] Cortesani, G., Toader, R.: Non-local approximation of non-isotropic freediscontinuity problems. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 59, 1507–1519 (1999)
- [25] Crismale, V., Scilla, G., Solombrino, F.: A derivation of Griffith functionals from discrete finite-difference models. Calc. Var. 59, 193 (2020)
- [26] Dal Maso, G.: An Introduction to Γ-Convergence. Birkhäuser, London (1993)
- [27] Dal Maso, G.: Generalised functions of bounded deformation. J. Eur. Math. Soc. 15, 1943–1997 (2013)
- [28] Evans, L., Gariepy, R.: Measure Theory and Fine Properties of Functions, revised edn. CRC Press, London (2015)

- [29] Focardi, M., Iurlano, F.: Asymptotic analysis of Ambrosio-Tortorelli energies in linearized elasticity. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 46, 2936–2955 (2014)
- [30] Francfort, G.A., Marigo, J.-J.: Revisiting brittle fracture as an energy minimization problem. J. Mech. Phys. Solids 46, 1319–1342 (1998)
- [31] Gobbino, M.: Finite difference approximation of the Mumford–Shah functional. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 51, 197–228 (1998)
- [32] Griffith, A.A.: The phenomenon of rupture and flow in solids. Phil Trans. R. Soc. Lond. A 221, 163–198 (1920)
- [33] Hutchinson, J.W.: A Course on Nonlinear Fracture Mechanics. Department of Solid Mechanics, University of Denmark, Techn (1989)
- [34] Lussardi, L., Vitali, E.: Non-local approximation of free-discontinuity functionals with linear growth: the one-dimensional case. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 186, 721– 744 (2007)
- [35] Lussardi, L., Vitali, E.: Non-local approximation of free-discontinuity problems with linear growth. In: ESAIM: COCV, vol. 13, pp. 135–162 (2007)
- [36] Negri, M.: A finite element approximation of the Griffith's model in fracture mechanics. Numer. Math. 95, 653–687 (2003)
- [37] Negri, M.: A non-local approximation of free discontinuity problems in SBV and SBD. Calc. Var. 25, 33–62 (2005)
- [38] Ruf, M.: Discrete stochastic approximations of the Mumford-Shah functional. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 36, 887-937 (2019)
- [39] Strekalovskiy, E., Cremers, D.: Real-time minimization of the piecewise smooth Mumford-Shah functional. In: Lecture Notes in Computer Science (Including Subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics), 8690 LNCS (2014), pp. 127–141
- [40] Temam, R.: Mathematical Problems in Plasticity. Gauthier-Villars, London (1985)

Giovanni Scilla and Francesco Solombrino Dipartimento di Matematica ed Applicazioni "R. Caccioppoli" Università di Napoli Federico II Via Cintia Monte Sant'Angelo 80126 Naples Italy e-mail: giovanni.scilla@unina.it

Francesco Solombrino

e-mail: francesco.solombrino@unina.it

Received: 13 July 2020. Accepted: 5 February 2021.